Pre-Application Meeting Required
Planner >
. Date 9’! N
C]l y Of Lawrence Application Number
|__
Douglas County | pete Received
ar PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT SERVICES
6 East 6™ St. www lawrenceks.ora/pds Phone  785-832-3150
P.O. Box 708 Tdd 785-B32-3205
Lawrence, KS 66044 Fax 785-832-3160

APPLICATION FOR LANDMARK DESIGNATION IN
THE LAWRENCE REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES

1. Property Nomination Information

Historic Property Name: Chi Omega Sorority House

Property Address: 1345 West Campus Road

City, State, Zip Code: Lawrence, Kansas 66044

Legal Description: University Heights Lots 8,9,10 & E ¥ Lot 13 (corrected
legal description 2008)

2. Applicant Information

Name: Chi Omega Fraternity cfo Lindsay Crick
Street Address: 4241 Briarwood Dr. Apt B3

City, State, Zip Code: | Lawrence, Kansas 66049

Home Phone: 513-257-4892

Work Phone:

Email Address: lindsaycrick@gmail.com

3. Owner Information

Name: Chi Omega Fraternity

Street Address: : 1345 West Campus Road

City, State, Zip Code: Lawrence, Kansas 66044

Home Phone: 913-530-6734 (Jennifer Godar, President of the Chi Omega Corporation Board)
Worlk Phone:

Email Address:

Is this an owner initiated nomination?: Kl Yes [1No
If not, has the owner been notified by the applicant of this nomination?: [0Yes [1No
If sponsored by an organization:

Organization Name: Lawrence Preservation Alliance

Organization Address: PO Box 1073

Organization City, State, Zip Code: Lawrence, Kansas 66044

Application Form Page 1 of 2 Nomination Application
12/2009




This property is being nominated for its:

Historic Significance: [J

Architectural Significance: X

Association with an Important Local, State or National individual or event: (0

Historic Background Information

Date Built: Estimated 1 | Source: Comments:
1925 Documented ] State Register Nomination See atlached
Date of Building Estimated O | Source: Comments:
Alterations or Documented &3] _ o See altached; addition
Additions: 1964 Addition added to north; south | State Register Nomination | designed by Folger & Pearson
wing extended; retains "L" shape

Description of Building Additions or Alterations:

Original Owner; Chi Omega Fraternity Source: State Register Nomination
Original Builder or Architect: Walter Earl Glover | Source: State Register Nomination
Original Use: Sorority House Source! State Register Nomination

Architectural Significance

See attached State Register Nomination.
It is a distinguished example of Jacobethan style architecture, and was designed by Topeka architect Walter Earl Glover.

Historic Significance

Authorization and Certification
I, the undersigned do hereby have the legal authority to submit this

nomination and I certify that the information provided on this application is
true and correct to the best of my knowledge.

Signature:; C/%M//L M Date: &/7 / 5

Signature: Date:

Application Form Page 2 of 2 Nomination Application
12/2009




City of Lawrence
Douglas County

L 1] L} PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT SERVICES
6 East 6™ St. www.lawrenceks,org/pds Phone 785-832-3150
P.O. Box 708 Tdd 785-832-3205
Lawrence, KS 66044 Fax 785-832-3160

INFORMATION REQUIRED FOR SUBMITTAL WITH APPLICATION FOR NOMINATION
TO THE LAWRENCE REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES

Use the checkliist below to be sure your application is complete.

B/Application Form

B/Certified property owner list from County Clerk’s office for properties within 250° of
the requested property for nomination.

B/Photographs of each elevation of the structure.
I]/Legal description of nominated property.

IE/If the property is listed on the State and/or National Registers of Historic Places,
copies of the applications for nomination and pertinent resources materials.

1 Any additional documentation you believe is relevant to this nomination whic h you
would like considered in the review process.

B/The fee for application processing is $10.00 for landmark nominations and $50.00
for district nominations.

i%
T

We are committed to providing excellent city services that enhance the quality of life for the Lawrence Community




JAMIE SHEW

DOUGLAS COUNTY CLERK
1100 Massachusetts
Lawrence, KS 66044
Marni Penrod Phone: 785-832-5267 Benjamin Lampe
Chief Deputy Clerk Fax: 785-832-5192 Deputy Clerk-Elections

February 12, 2015

A CERTIFIED PROPERTY OWNERSHIP LIST WITHIN 250 FT OF 1345 W CAMPUS RD
(U08641A01). 02/12/2015. REQUESTED BY LINDSAY CRICK.

JOHN R NICHOLS

ACCOUNT CLERK

PHONE 785-832-5147

FAX 785-832-5192

EMALIL jnichols @ douglas-county.com

Douglas County Real Estate Division

County Clerks Office. I do hereby certify

The Real Estate Ownership listedh?e,
ate.

’
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JOINPIN SYSCALACRE ownerl owner2 owner3 |address city stazip plate PID Quickrefid |situs
067-36-0-40-07-002.00-C 96.97209676 UNIVERSITY OF KANSAS 1450 JAYHAWK BLVD RM 245  |LAWRENCE KS|66045|U06183A01 |023-067-36-0-40-07-002.00-C R8372 0 JAYHAWK BLVD
067-36-0-30-13-001.00-C 1.30718039|SIGMA ALPHA EPSILON FRAT 2201 W 25TH ST STE R LAWRENCE KS|66047|U08632A  |023-067-36-0-30-13-001.00-C R8206 1301 WEST CAMPUS RD
067-36-0-30-14-001.00-C 0.58455239 BENDAPUDI VENKATA R BENDAPUDI NEELIMA M 1505 UNIVERSITY DR LAWRENCE KS|66044|U08684A  |023-067-36-0-30-14-001.00-C R8211 1505 UNIVERSITY DR
067-36-0-30-14-002.00-C 0.78571501 ROBINSON RYAN J NIEVA ROBINSON JENNIFER N 1515 UNIVERSITY DR LAWRENCE KS|66044|U08686A  |023-067-36-0-30-14-002.00-C R8212 1515 UNIVERSITY DR
067-36-0-30-13-002.00-C 0.66027357 | XI CHAPTER OF SIGMA KAPPA 13230 OUTLOOK DR LEAWOOD KS|66209|U08636A  |023-067-36-0-30-13-002.00-C R8207 1325 WEST CAMPUS RD
067-36-0-30-14-014.00-C 0.26401397 | TEFFT ELDEN C TRUSTEE TEFFT MARY W TRUSTEE 1315 NAISMITH DR LAWRENCE KS|66044|U08658A  |023-067-36-0-30-14-014.00-C R8224 1315 NAISMITH DR
067-36-0-30-14-010.00-C 0.32182381|MILLER RICHARD D 1350 STRONG AVE LAWRENCE KS|66044|U08659A  |023-067-36-0-30-14-010.00-C R8220 1350 STRONG AVE
067-36-0-30-13-003.00-C 0.74079420|ASSN OF SIGMA GAMMA PHI BETA 1339 W CAMPUS RD LAWRENCE KS|66044|U08639A  |023-067-36-0-30-13-003.00-C R8208 1339 WEST CAMPUS RD
067-36-0-30-14-013.00-C 0.15640445|OLIVERA ARON E 2237 TEMPLETON DR ARLINGTON TX|76006|/U08660 023-067-36-0-30-14-013.00-C R8223 1325 NAISMITH DR
067-36-0-30-14-012.00-C 0.55917769 RGAPTS LLC PO BOX 928 LAWRENCE KS|66044|U08662A  |023-067-36-0-30-14-012.00-C R8222 1500 CRESCENT RD
067-36-0-30-14-011.00-C 0.21659264 CONRAD DONALD L CONRAD JANICE E 1506 CRESCENT RD LAWRENCE KS|66044|U08664 023-067-36-0-30-14-011.00-C R8221 1506 CRESCENT RD
067-36-0-30-13-004.00-C 0.67653485|CHI OMEGA FRATERNITY PO BOX 572 LAWRENCE KS|66044|U08641A01 |023-067-36-0-30-13-004.00-C R8209 1345 WEST CAMPUS RD
067-36-0-30-13-006.00-C 0.48302116 BPM PROPERTIES LLC 2063 N 1300 RD EUDORA KS|66025/U08646A  |023-067-36-0-30-13-006.00-C R8210 1420 CRESCENT RD
067-36-0-30-20-002.01-C 0.45962592 HAUSHERR BERNARD L JR 2037 NEW HAMPSHIRE ST LAWRENCE KS|66044|U08682 023-067-36-0-30-20-002.01-C R8309 1503 CRESCENT RD
067-36-0-30-20-001.00-C 0.67743610|SCHROEDER THOMAS P SCHROEDER DEBORAH A 1235 N PARK BLVD INDEPENDENCE |KS|67301/U08683 023-067-36-0-30-20-001.00-C R8308 1501 CRESCENT RD
067-36-0-30-21-001.00-C 3.42840850 UNIVERSITY OF KANSAS 1450 JAYHAWK BLVD RM 245  |LAWRENCE KS|66045/U06183L 023-067-36-0-30-21-001.00-C R8324 1417 CRESCENT RD
067-36-0-30-20-014.00-C 9.15365212 UNIVERSITY OF KANSAS BOARD OF REGENTS OF THE STATE OF KANSAS 1450 JAYHAWK BLVD RM 245 |LAWRENCE KS|66045/U09447A  |023-067-36-0-30-20-014.00-C R8323 1500 W 15TH ST
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NPS Form 10-800 OMB No. 1024-0018
(3-82) : . £xp. 10-31-84

United States Department of the Interior

National Park Service For NPS use only .
National Register of Historic Places received
inventory—Nomination Form date entered

See instructions in How to Complete National Register Forms
Type all entries—complete applicable sections

i. Name

historic Chi Omega Sorority House

~and/orcommon  Chi Omega Sorority House

2. Location

street & number 1345 West Campus Road —__not for publication
city, town Lawrence N/A vicinity of
state Kansas code 20 county Douglas code 045
3. Classification
Category Ownership Status Present Use
e district . public _X occupied o BGFiCUliure e LS RUTT
X building(s) _X private e URGCCUpied — commercial B o1 14 4
— structure e both - Work in progress — educational — private residence
. site Public Acquisition Accessible . EOtETIRINMENt e TENIgIOUIS
e D] RCY — inprocess % yes: restricted — government . SCiENLIfiC
e DEING CONSidered — - yes: unrestricted . iRCbustrial — transportation
N/A ——ne L. . military _X_ other: Sorority Hous

4. Owner of Property

name Chi Omega. Fraternity, Inc., lambda Chapter

street & number 1345 West Campus Road

city, town L awrence N/A  vicinity of state Kapsas 66044

5, Location of Legal Description

courthoyse, registry of deeds, etc. Register of Deeds

street & number Douglas County Courthouse

city, town ) Lawrence state  Kansas 66044

6. Representation in Existing Surveys

title None has this“’property been determined eligible? ____ yes X ng
date Nonpe — federal ____ state ... county ____ local
depository for survey records None

city, town None state




7. Descriptior

o,

Condition Check one Check one

_X_ excellent ___ deteriorated . unaltered _X_ original site

—__good e Fuins _X.- altered .—_moved  date N/ZA
e tair — unexposed

Describe the present and original (if known) physical appearance

The 1925 Chi Omega sorority house is situated toward the north end of the University
of Kansas campus. Several other Greek organizations have built their houses 1in the
vicinity as well. The three story brick structure is built in the Jacobethan style.
Window and door surrounds and other decorative details are done in stone. Additions
made in 1964 are entirely compatible with the original construction. The house has

been changed only insofar as was nacessary to accommodate modern needs. Its historic
character has not been altered.

The building was originally constructed with a seven bay east elevation in an
L shaped configuration. To the north of the entrance bay was a two story wing
that was terminated with a stone balustrade and flat roof. The wing immediately south
of the main block, containing the sun room, was also flat roofed and terminated
in a stone balustrade. The dimensions of the building were 77 x 89 feet and its L

shape was created by the dining room (now used as a study/television room), which
extended to the west.

In 1964 the Sorority regquested that the building be expanded to accommodate
the growing number of its residents. The Kansas City architectural firm of
Folger and Pearson was awarded the contract for an addition and the B. A. Green
Construction Company of Lawrence was selected as the general contractor.

The addition sensitively recreates the original features of the house and thus
is virtually unnoticeable as an addition.

The new wing to the north contains the dining room facilities and kitchen. On the
second and attic stories is dormitory space. The wing on the south was extended
to complete an attic story, also used for needed dormitory space. The building, as
expanded, retains its basic s " shaped configuration and the architects, in using
identical construction materials and in maintaining the same articulation of the
facade, arrived at a remarkably consistent structure.

The primary facade {east) is symetrically composed of 11 bays and has a

central projecting entrance bay. A gabled dormer pierces the roof Tine above each
bay, further defining the balanced arrangement of the facade.

The wood front door is placed within a stone, compound Tudor arch and is
approached by three flights of steps. The stone door surround is quoined and
continues up to form the base and surround for a tri-sided oriel window on the
second floor. This window is surmounted by a quoined brick balcony. Above this,
on the attic story, a multipaned casement window is capped with a stone Ylintel.
The parapet peaks in a steep gable over the entrance bay and is embellished
with smooth stone coping.

The fenestration of the three bays flanking the entrance on the first floor
consists of double, multipaned French doors which features Tudor arch transoms.
These doors possess stone guoined surrounds. Above each of these doors at the
second level is a casement window that also has stone quoined surrounds, sills,
and lintels. The attic story windows are contained in gable roofed dormers. The
: pediment of the dormers is stuccoed and decorated with half timbering. These |
E2 windows have stone lugsills. ‘
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The projecting castellated bays are tri-sided, with casement windows on the
first and second stories., The base of the first floor windows, and the window
surrounds, are of smooth stone. The brick spandrel separating the first from the
second story is embellished with stone quoining. A rectangular stone panel set
into the spandrel is inscribed with the Greek Letters X (Chi) ands» {Omega). The
bays terminate with castellations, faced with stone. Set back on the same plane
as the other attic dormers is a gabled dormer.

The end bays of the primary facade were part of the 1964 addition and
alteration project. The subtle differences in their treatment refiect the
interior arvangement of the building. The southern bay is characterized by a
group of three multipaned casement windows which again feature an eliiptical
transom, The targe window surface area facilitates the use of the room as a
sunroom/study. Molded rectangular panels form the wooden base of the windows.

A running stone si11 below the three second floor windows serves as a string
course. These are also multipaned casement windows. Centrally placed above the
bay is a gabled dormer, slightly narrower than the other attic story dormers. This
bay breaks the plane created by the main mass of the building as 1t is slightly
recessed. The bay at the north end of this facade features a single two-leafed
casement window with a quoined surround and elliptical transom. This bay is

also slightly recessed. A single second story window is multipaned and aiso
quoined with stone Tugsills. The gable dormer of the attic story contains a
casement window.

The gable roof of the house is covered with variegated asphalt shingles. A
chimney with clay chimney pots is at the south end of the roof.

The west, or rear of the building, features a flat roof. The lower story,
a kitchen addition, projects sltightly. A canvas canopy marks the back entrance.
A secondary entrance is provided for the housemother, in an extension at the
juncture of the original wings of the house. The dormer treatment of this facade
is similar to the treatment of the main (east) facade.

The south facade is a wing that extends towards the west, off the main
facade. The wing repeats the motifs of the primary facade. An entrance door
which again features a Tudor arch set within a quoined surround, is placed at
the west end. The entrance bay is three stories in height and peaks in a gable
that also terminates in stone coping. The fenestration of each of the bays
is a multipaned rectangular window set within a stone surround. Gahle rocfed
dormers are placed above the windows on the second story and are identical to those
of the primary facade. A bandcourse of stone separates the basement from the first story.
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On the north facade, centrally located on the first story, is a single
rectangular window of a tripartite arrangement set within a Tudor arch
surround. Above it, on the second and third stories, are single doorways
that lead onto the fire escape.

At the north end of the property, behind the house, is a frame garage
with a gable roof. A large overhead door is on the south facade of the
garage. This building was erected in 1975 and is not a significant feature.

Interior

Glover's design of the interior arrangement of the sorority house lent
jtself to providing a gracious home-1ike atmosphere and common spaces that
were large, airy, and well appointed. While Glover was committed to mitigating
any dormitory qualities to the house, his specific patrons were carefully
recognized, The formal living room, to the left of the main foyer, contains
a plasterwork ceiling that features an unusuai quatrefoil and lozenge pattern.
The juxtaposition of these two decorative forms portrays the Greek Tetters
X (Chi) and ~ (Omega).

The fireplace at the south end of the 1iving room possesses a segmental
arch opening which reflects the exterior ornamentation. Elaborately carved
consoles support the mantlepiece and the sides of the fireplace are carved
in relief with foliate ornament.

A grand staircase leads to the upper stories of the house from the
entrance hall. The staircase features carvedbalustrades.

Both the old dining room (to the west of the living room) and the new
dining room (directly north of the main entrance) feature dark wood
paneling. The old dining room has a beamed ceiling.



8. Significanc~

Period ' Areas of Significance—Check and justity below ‘

____prehistoric . archeology-prehistoric _..__ community planning ... landscape architecture ____ religion

—__1400-1499 __... archeology-historic ____conservation — law — selence

© o 1500-1588  ____ agriculture e ECONOMICS ~— \terature e Seulpture

___1600-1699 _X_ architecture ____education . military ___ social/

17001799 . art —__engineering e TTIUSHC humanitarian

— 1800-1899 __ commerce - @Xploration/settlement ____ philosephy e the@LET

X 1800~ —_ communications e INCIUSLEEY . politics/government  ___ transportation
e, ISV ENTION _‘ ) o OTher {specify)

A e dda e e m Ngiag faund
Specific dates 1925 Builder/Architect William Glover

Statement of Significance [in one paragraph)

The Chi Omega Sorority House in Lawrence, Kansas is a particularly distinguished
example of the Jacobethan style of architecture, popular in the United States during
the first quarter of the twentieth century. The architect, William Glover, used
the motifs of this late English style to create a contemporary interpretation of an
historic mode. The sorority house defies classification as either a residence or
apartment/hotel, and so, presents singular design problems. The architect was
asked to house fifty women while maintaining the atmosphere of a private residential
dwelling. Glover resolved these problems as he adapted his design to suit these specific
needs and created spacious quarters that had no resemblance to a dormitory.

The sorority is the fourth oldest at the University of Kansas and according
to sorority history pioneered in several aspects: the first to Tive in a house
together with a housemother; the first to erect a house adjacent to the campus
rather than several blocks away.

The construction of the house followed closely a major building program on the
campus, as in 1921 the State Legislature appropriated several million dollars for the
construction of new buildings. Actual construction of the Chi Omega house, however,
did not begin until 1923,

The University of Kansas at Lawrence was opened 1863. Greek organizations
were organized slowly at first, but grew rapidly as the University expanded. The
number of Greek organizations grew from two in 1873, nine in 1889, thirteen in 1903,
and seventeen in 1909.

The Chi Omega fraternity was founded nationally on April 5, 1895 at Arkansas
Unjversity in Fayetteville, Arkansas. The Lambda Chapter of Chi Omega was
installed at the University of Kansas in 1902. Chi Omega was only the fourth
sorority to be installed on the University of Kansas campus, as the previous
three sororities were installed in 1883.

The success of the sorority is evidenced by the progression of their facilities.
The original seven founders of the Lambda Chapter first met in the attic of a private
home. The Chapter was installed in 1902 at the home of Blanche Ward Foster at 1320
Ohio. .In 1903-04 the Lambda Chapter leased a house at 1400 Ohio and hired a housemother,
hecoming the first women's sorority to live in a house together with a housemother.
Between 1905-1911, membership in the sorority grew from 17 to 28 members and larger
‘quarters became necessary.
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In 1911 the Chapter contracted with J.T. Constant, a Lawrence builder,

to construct a house at 1137 Indiana, becoming the first sorority on the
campus to undertake both the buiiding and financing of their own home.

This house was constructed at a cost of almost $8,000. This house, as

were most other fraternity and sorcrity houses at the time, was located

to the east of the campus, in a residential area below the hill on which the
campus is located.

Membership in the Chapter continued to grow and at a meeting that took
place in October of 1919, it was announced that a “Chapter House Fund"
would be established in ovrder to provide the means to finance construction
of a new Chapter house. A legal document entitled "Proposed Rules for Governing
a Fund for the Erection of a Chapter House for the Lambda Chapter of the
Chi Omega Fraternity” was presented to the members. The plan, which
estimated revenues for the new building through the solicitation of funds
from alumnae and present sorority members, along with the revenue which
would be generated by the sale of their present house, was presented to
the Chapter. The cost of the acquisition of the land was estimated at
$4,000 and the cost of construction at $50,000.

The original members of the building committee were Helen Dana, Louise
Cowdrey, Emily Moeller, and Marjorie Stauffer. Ms. Dana was named
chairman of this committee. She was also President of the sorority during
the time the building was being constructed, was instrumental in the
selection of the architect, and closely supervised the subsequent building
activities.

Walter Glover was selected as architect for the project in November
of 1924. 1In a letter to the sisters of Chi Omega, dated January 24, 1925,
Ms. Dana stressed the Chapter's good fortune in retaining Mr. Glover as the
architect:

Qur architect My. Walter E. Glover, of Topeka, has drawn up

a beautiful set of plans, artistically designed with rich
interior decoration. He has displayed strength in the
construction, in keeping with his past reputation. We are
fortunate in having such a competent architect and hope that
the contractor whom we choose in two weeks will be satisfactory.

Walter farl Glover was born in 1883 in Terre Haute, Indiana. MWhen
he was fourteen his parents moved to Topeka where he completed his high
school education. After spending a year and a half attending the Kansas
State Agricultural College at Manhattan, Glover transferred to the Universtiy
of I1linois where he graduated in 1915 with a Bachelor of Science degree
in Engineering and Architecture. During World War I, Glover served with
the architectural department of the Navy, designing hospitals. In 1919
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he returned to Topeka to open an architectural office. Some of Glover's
distinguished designs for Topeka included the Security Benefit Association
building, the Charles H. Seldon Community House, the Stormont Hospital
Buildings, and the Central Congregational Community House.

The Chi Omega House was designed in the Jacobethan Revival style,
a style especially popular during the first two decades of the 20th
century. The style finds its historical precedent in English architecture
of the early 17th century. The distinguishing features of the Jacobethan
Revival style include a preference for the use of brick and stone as construction
materials; a profusion of windows which pierce the wall surface; steep
gables which rise above the roof; and bay windows. While brick composes the
major mass of the building, stone was preferred as a decorative accent, and
was often used as mullions to divide the windows, for 1intels and sills, and
as door surrounds. These features were successfully incorporated into the
Chi Omega Sorority house by Mr. Glover.

Ground breaking ceremonies were held on February 20, 1925. Helen Dana
addressed the assembled group and moved the first shovel full of dirt. The
architect also spoke, noting that this was the first house he had designed
in Lawrence. The publicized descriptions of the house indicated that it would
accomodate 50 girls. The basement would contain a maid's vroom, laundry,
trunk storage, and boiler room. The first floor would have a 44 x 27 foot
recreation room {1iving room), a sun room, a 37 x 20 foot dining room, matron's
suite, and parlors. The second and third floors would consist of large
“sTeeping porches™, and twenty-six study rooms. The heating of the house
would be by a vapor vacuum system.

J. T. Constant was selected as contractor for the house. He had built
their previous house at 1137 Indfana. The landscaping contract was awarded
to the landscaping department of the Mt. Hope Nurseries in Lawrence.

The Sorority was able to hold their fall rush parties in the house
as they moved in during September of 1925, although much finishing
work still needed to be completed on the interjor, Other Greek organizations
followed Chi Omega's lead in erecting houses along Michigan Street (now known
as West Campus Road), adjacent to the college campus, although the most
attractive lot had already been acquived by the sorority.

THLS STATEMENT REFLECTS CURRENT KNOWLEDGE AND IS SUBJECT TO AMENDMENT.
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"Capsule History of Lambda,” from the coilection of Lambda Chapter, Chi Omega,
Lawrence, Kansas.

"Chi Omega Will Hold Ground Breaking Service," University Daily Kansan, Feb. 17, 1925,
p. 1.

The Jayhawker, University of Kansas Yearbook, 1905-1811.
"A New Mt. Oread 'Skyline,'" Kansas City Times, May 21, 1923, p. 2.

"Sorority Lets Contract,”™ University Daily Kansan, Feb. 15, 1925, p.1.

“Sorority to Have New Home," Topeka Daily Capital, Feb. 16, 1925, p.5.

This Nomination is Based on Materia1§ Submitted by Sherry Piland & Ellen Uguccioni.



%““w*m* Wical Referenc 5

9. Major

“Breaking of Ground Begins Construction of Chi Omega House, "University Daily -
Kansan, Feb. 20, 1925, p. 1. '

(See continuation sheet)

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of nominated property .. Less than 1 acre

Quadrangle name __Lawrence West Quad Quadrangle scate .1 :24000

UTM References

Alisd 1sloialomg) lahelaeg) Lol bl bbb i
Zone  Easting Northing Zone  Easting Northing

clo bbby Lot gl ol Lo by et by

el L1 } bl byl Flod Lo b Ly | S IR

' bbb el b by by ] g ]

Verbal boundary description and justification Unjversity Heights Part 1, Lots 8, 9, 19, & £ 1/2
Lot 13. Boundaries define lot on which house was constructed and where 1t remains still.

List all states and counties for properties overlapping state or county boundaries

state N/A code county code

state N/A code county code

11. Forim Prepared By

name/title Nora Pat Small, Architectural Historian

organization Kansas State Historical Society date
street & number 120 West Tenth telephone 913 206-3251
clty or town Topeka state Kansas 66612

12. State Historic Preservation Officer Certification

The evaluated significance of this property within the state is:

e NAtional —... state ___)L local

As the designated State Historic Preservation Officer for the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966 (Public Law 89—
665), | hereby nominate this property for inclusion in the National Register and certify that it has been evaluated
according to tha criteria and procedures set forth by the National Park Semce

State Historic Preservation Officer signature o &’Kf) // /// / """ Z// /{
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i. Name
historic Chi Omega Sorority House
and/or common  Chi Omega Sorority House
2. Location
street & number 1345 West Campus Road — not for publication
city, town Lawrence N/A vicinity of
state Kansas code 20 county  Douglas code 045
3. Classification
Category Ownership Status ’ Present Use
— district e PUBlIC _X occupied — agriculture N & 3 (V71 1F )
X building(s) A private e Unoccupied e COMMETCial — park
— structure e bOth e WOTK in progress — educational — private residence
. Site Public Acquisition Accessible . BOETTRINMENt . religious
. Object e N PFOCESS _X yes: restricted e GOVETIMENE — scientific
— heing considered e V€SI UNTEstricted — industrial e iransportation
N/A —ho . miliitary _X_ other: Sorority Hous
4. Owner of Property
name  Chi Omega Fraternity. Inc.. lambda Chapter
street & number 1345 West Campus Road
city, town | awrence N/A _ vicinity of state Kansas 66044

5. Location of Legal Description

courthoyse, registry of deeds, etc. Register of Deeds

-
street & number Douglas County Courthouse

clty, town | awrence state  Kansas 66044

6. Representation in Existing Surveys |

title None has thise’property been determined eligible? ____ yes m)ﬁm_, ng
date  Nope — federal _____state ___ county ____ local
depository for survey records None

city, town None state




7. Descriptior

Condition Check one Check one

_X_. excellent —_ deteriorated . unaltered _X_ original site

—_good — tuins _X._ altered . moved  date N/A
U 114 e UNERpOSsed

Describe the present and original (if known} physical appearance

The 1925 Chi Omega sorority house is situated toward the north end of the University
of Kansas campus. Several other Greek organizations have built their houses in the
vicinity as well. The three story brick structure is built in the Jacobethan style.
Window and door surrounds and other decorative details are done in stone. Additions
made in 1964 are entirely compatible with the original construction. The house has

been changed only insofar as was necessary %o accommodate modern needs. Its historic
character has not been altered.

The building was originally constructed with a seven bay east elevation ir an
L shaped configuration. To the north of the entrance bay was a two story wing
that was terminated with a stone baiustrade and flat roof. The wing immediately south
of the main block, containing the sun room, was also flat roofed and terminated
in a stone balustrade. The dimensions of the building were 77 x 89 feel and its L

shape was created by the dining room (now used as a study/television room), which
extended to the west.

In 1964 the Sorority requested that the building be expanded to accommodate
the growing number of its residents. The Kansas City architectural firm of
Folger and Pearson was awarded the contract for an addition and the B. A. Green
Construction Company of Lawrence was selected as the general contractor.

The addition sensitively recreates the original features of the house and thus
is virtually unnoticeable as an addition.

The new wing to the north contains the dining room facilities and kitchen. On the
second and attic stories is dormitory space. The wing on the south was extended
to complete an attic story, also used for needed dormitory space. The building, as
expanded, retains its basic “L" shaped configuration and the architects, in using
identical construction materials and in maintaining the same articulation of the
facade, arrived at a remarkably consistent structure.

The primary facade {east) is symetrically composed of 11 bays and has a

central projecting entrance bay. A gabled dormer pierces the roof Tine above each
bay, further defining the balanced arrangement of the facade.

The wood front door is placed within a stone, compound Tudor arch and is
approached by three flights of steps. The stone door surround is quoined and
continues up to form the base and surround for a tri-sided oriel window on the
second floor. This window is surmounted by a quoined brick balcony. Above this,
on the attic story, a multipaned casement window is capped with a stone lintel.
The parapet peaks in a steep gable over the entrance bay and is embellished
with smooth stone coping.

The fenestration of the three bays flanking the entrance on the first floor
consists of double, multipaned French doors which features Tudor arch transoms.
These doors possess stone quoined surrounds. Above each of these doors at the
second Tlevel is a casement window that also has stone gquoined surrounds, sills,
and lintels. The attic story windows are contained in gable roofed dormers. The
: pediment of the dormers is stuccoed and decorated with half timbering. These
1. windows have stone Tugsilis. ‘
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The projecting castellated bays are tri-sided, with casement windows on the
first and second stories. The base of the first floor windows, and the window
surrounds, are of smooth stone. The brick spandrel separating the first from the
second story is embellished with stone quoining. A rectangular stone panel set
into the spandrel is inscribed with the Greek Letters X (Chi) and#» (Omega). The
bays terminate with castellations, faced with stone. Set back on the same plane
as the other attic dormers is a gabled dormer.

The end bays of the primary facade were part of the 1964 addition and
alteration project. The subtle differences in their treatment reflect the
interior arrangement of the building. The southern bay is characterized by a
group of three multipaned casement windows which again feature an elliptical
transom. The large window surface area facilitates the use of the room as a
sunroom/study. Molded rectangular panels form the wooden base of the windows.

A running stone sill below the three second floor windows serves as a string
course. These are also multipaned casement windows. Centrally placed above the
bay is a gabled dormer, slightly narrower than the other attic story dormers. This
bay breaks the plane created by the main mass of the building as it is slightly
recessed. The bay at the north end of this facade features a single two-Teafed
casement window with a quoined survound and elliptical transom. This bay is

also slightly recessed. A single second story window is multipaned and aiso
quoined with stone Tugsills. The gable dormer of the attic story contains a
casement window.

The gable roof of the house is covered with variegated asphalt shingles. A
chimney with clay chimney pots is at the south end of the roof.

The west, or rear of the building, features a flat roof. The lower story,
a kitchen addition, projects slightly. A canvas canopy marks the back entrance.
A secondary entrance is provided for the housemother, in an extension at the
juncture of the original wings of the house. The dormer treaiment of this facade
is similar to the treatment of the main (east) facade.

The south facade is a wing that extends towards the west, off the main
facade. The wing repeats the motifs of the primary facade. An entrance door
which again features a Tudor arch set within a quoined surround, is placed at
the west end. The entrance bay is three stories in height and peaks in a gable
that alse terminates in stone coping. The fenestration of each of the bays
is a multipaned rectangular window set within a stone surround. Gable roofed
dormers are placed above the windows on the second stery and are identical to those
of the primary facade. A bandcourse of stone separates the basement from the first story.
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On the north facade, centrally Tocated on the first story, is a single
rectangular window of a tripartite arrangement set within a Tudor arch
surround. Above it, on the second and third stories, are single doorways
that lead onto the fire escape.

At the north end of the property, behind the house, is a frame garage
with a gable roof. A large overhead door is on the south facade of the
garage. This building was erected in 1975 and is not a significant feature.

Interior

Glover's design of the interior arrangement of the sorority house lent
jtself to providing a gracious home-Tike atmosphere and common spaces that
were large, airy, and well appointed. While Glover was committed to mitigating
any dormitory qualities to the house, his specific patrons were carefully
recognized. The formal 1living room, to the left of the main foyer, contains
a plasterwork ceiling that features an unusual quatrefoil and Tozenge pattern.
The juxtaposition of these two decorative forms portrays the Greek Tetters
X (Chi) and - (Omega).

The fireplace at the south end of the living room possesses a segmental
arch opening which reflects the exterior ornamentation. Elaborately carved
consoles support the mantiepiece and the sides of the fireplace are carved
in relief with foliate ornament.

A grand staircase leads to the upper stories of the house from the
entrance hall. The staircase features carved balustrades.

Both the old dining room (to the west of the iiving room) and the new
dining room (directly north of the main entrance) feature dark wood
paneling. The old dining room has a beamed ceiling.
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8. Significanc~

et -

Period " Areas of Significance—Check and justify below .

. prehistoric . archeology-prehistoric . community pfanning .. landscape architecture ___ religion

—_1400-1499 __ archeology-historic e CONservation — - — science

©___1500-159% ____ agriculture e BCONIOMICS - literature —— Sculpture

e 16001669 X architecture e education e T lIRATY . social/

17001799 .. art — engineering N ¢ 1177474 humanitarian

_.. 18001899 .. commerce — exploration/settlement ____ philosophy — theater

X_. 1900~ v COmMMUNications e industry . politicsigovernment  ___ transportation
e ITIVENTION , ) e OtET {SPECIHY)

Ao it e en Mieia dead
Specific dates 1925 Builder/Airchitect {1 14am Glover

e

Statement of Significance {in one paragraph)}

The Chi Omega Sorority House in Lawrence, Kansas is a particularly distinguished
example of the Jacobethan style of architecture, popular in the United States during
the first quarter of the twentieth century. The architect, William Glover, used
the motifs of this late English style to c¢reate a contemporary interpretation of an
historic mode. The sorority house defies classification as either a residence or
apartment/hotel, and so, presents singular design problems. The architect was
asked to house fifty women while maintaining the atmosphere of a private residential
dwelling. Glover resolved these problems as he adapted his design to suit these specific
needs and created spacious quarters that had no resemblance to a dormitory.

The sorority is the fourth oldest at the University of Kansas and according
to sorority history pioneered in several aspects: the first to Tive in a house
together with a housemother; the first to erect a house adjacent to the campus
rather than several blocks away.

The construction of the house followed closely a major building program on the
campus, as in 1921 the State Legislature appropriated several million dollars for the
construction of new buildings. Actual construction of the Chi Omega house, however,
did not begin until 1923.

The University of Kansas at Lawrence was opened 1863. Greek organizations
were organized stowly at first, but grew rapidly as the University expanded. The
number of Greek organizations grew from two in 1873, nine in 1889, thirteen in 1903,
and seventeen in 1909.

The Chi Omega fraternity was founded nationally on April 5, 1895 at Arkansas
University in Fayetteville, Arkansas. The Lambda Chapter of Chi Omega was
installed at the University of Kansas in 1902. Chi Omega was only the fourth
sorority to be installed on the University of Kansas campus, as the previous
three sororities were installed in 1883.

The success of the sorority is evidenced by the progression of their facilities.
The original seven founders of the Lambda Chapter first met in the attic of a private
home. The Chapter was installed in 1902 at the home of Blanche Ward Foster at 1320
Ohio. In 1903-04 the Lambda Chapter leased a house at 1400 Ohio and hired a housemother,
becoming the first women's sorority to Tive in a house together with a housemother.
Between 1905-1911, membership in the sorority grew from 17 to 28 members and larger
‘quarters became necessary.
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In 1911 the Chapter contracted with J.T. Constant, a Lawrence builder,

to construct a house at 1137 Indiana, becoming the first sorority on the
campus to undertake both the building and financing of their own home.

This house was constructed at a cost of almost $8,000. This house, as

were most other fraternity and sorority houses at the time, was tocated

to the east of the campus, in a residential area below the hill on which the
campus is Tocated.

Membership in the Chapter continued to grow and at a meeting that took
place in October of 1919, it was announced that a “Chapter House Fund"
would be established in order to provide the means to finance construction
of a new Chapter house. A legal document entitled "Proposed Rules for Governing
a Fund for the Erection of a Chapter House for the Lambda Chapter of the
Chi Omega Fraternity" was presented to the members. The plan, which
estimated revenues for the new building through the solicitation of funds
from alumnae and present sorority members, along with the revenue which
would be generated by the sale of their present house, was presented to
the Chapter. The cost of the acquisition of the land was estimated at
$4,000 and the cost of construction at $50,000.

The original members of the building committee were Helen Dana, Louise
Cowdrey, Emily Moeller, and Marjorie Stauffer. Ms. Dana was named
chairman of this committee. She was also President of the sorority during
the time the building was being constructed, was instrumental in the
selection of the architect, and closely supervised the subsequent building
activities.

Walter Glover was selected as architect for the project in November
of 1924. 1In a letter to the sisters of Chi Omega, dated January 24, 1925,
Ms. Dana stressed the Chapter's good fortune in retaining Mr. Glover as the
architect:

Qur architect Mr. Walter E. Glover, of Topeka, has drawn up

a beautiful set of plans, artistically designed with rich
interior decoration. He has displayed strength in the
construction, in keeping with his past reputation. We are
fortunate in having such a competent architect and hope that
the contractor whom we choose in two weeks will be satisfactory.

Walter Earl Glover was born in 1889 in Terre Haute, Indiana. When
he was fourteen his parents moved to Topeka where he completed his high
school education. After spending a year and a half attending the Kansas
State Agricultural College at Manhattan, Glover transferred to the Universtiy
of I1linois where he graduated in 1915 w1th a Bachelor of Science degree
in Engineering and Architecture. During World War I, Glover served with
the architectural department of the Navy, designing hosp1ta¥s In 1979
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he returned to Topeka to open an architectural office. Some of Glover's
distinguished designs for Topeka included the Security Benefit Association
building, the Charles H. Seldon Community House, the Stormont Hospital
Buildings, and the Central Congregational Community House.

The Chi Omega House was designed in the Jacobethan Revival style,
a style especially popular during the first two decades of the 20th
century. The style finds its historical precedent in English architecture
of the early 17th century. The distinguishing features of the Jacobethan
Revival style include a preference for the use of brick and stone as construction
materials; a profusion of windows which pierce the wall surface; steep
gables which rise above the roof; and bay windows. While brick composes the
major mass of the building, stone was preferred as a decorative accent, and
was often used as mullions to divide the windows, for lintels and silis, and
as door surrounds. These features were successfully incorporated into the
Chi Omega Sorority house by Mr. Glover.

Ground breaking ceremonies were held on February 20, 1925. Helen Dana
addressed the assembled group and moved the first shovel full of dirt. The
architect also spoke, noting that this was the first house he had designed
in Lawrence. The publicized descriptions of the house indicated that it would
accomodate 50 girls. The basement would contain a maid's room, laundry,
trunk storage, and boiler room. The first floor would have a 44 x 27 foot
recreation room (1iving room), a sun room, a 37 x 20 foot dining room, matron's
suite, and pariors. The second and third floors would consist of large
“sTeeping porches", and twenty-six study rooms. The heating of the house
would be by a vapor vacuum system.

J. T. Constant was selected as contractor for the house. He had buiit
their previous house at 1137 Indiana. The landscaping contract was awarded
to the landscaping department of the Mt. Hope Nurseries in Lawrence.

The Sorority was able to hold their fall rush parties in the house
as they moved in during September of 1925, although much finishing
work still needed to be completed on the interior. Other Greek organizations
£01lowed Chi Omega's lead in erecting houses along Michigan Street (now known
as West Campus Road), adjacent to the college campus, although the most
attractive lot had already been acquived by the sorority.

THIS STATEMENT REFLECTS CURRENT KNOWLEDGE AND'IS'SUBJECT TO AMENDMENT.
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"Capsule History of Lambda," from the collection of Lambda Chapter, Chi Omega,
Lawrence, Kansas.

"Chi Omega Will Hold Ground Breaking Service," University Daily Kansan, Feb. 17, 1925,
p. 1.

The Jayhawker, University of Kansas Yearbook, 1905-1911.

"A New Mt. Oread ‘Skyline,'" Kansas City Times, May 21, 1923, p. 2.

"Sorority Lets Contract,"” University Daily Kansan, Feb. 15, 1925, p.1.

"Sorority to Have New Home," Topeka Daily Capital, Feb. 16, 1925, p.5.

This Nomination is Based on Materials Submitted by Sherry Piland & Ellen Uguccioni.
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8. Major

“Breaking of Ground Begins Construction of Chi Omega House, "University Daily -
Kansan, Feb. 20, 1925, p. 1. o

(See continuation sheet)

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of nominated property _Less_than 1 acre

Quadrangle name __Lawrence West Quad Quadrangle scale 1124000
UTM References
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Zone  Easting Northing Zone  Easting Northing
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Verbal boundary description and justification Unjversity Heights Part I, Lots 8, 9, 19, & E 1/2
Lot 13. Boundaries define Tot on which house was constructed and where 1t remains still.

List all states and counties for properties overlapping state or county houndaries

state N/A code E;ounty code

state N/A code county code

11. Form Prepared By

namertitle Nora Pat Small, Architectural Historian

organization Kansas State Historical Society date
street & number 120 West Tenth telephone 9713 296-325]
city or town Topeka state - Kansas 66612

Mificer Certification

12. State Historic Preservation

The evaluated significance of this property within the state is:

— national . State __)_(“ local

As the designated State Historic Preservation Officer for the MNational Historic Preservation Act of 1966 {Public Law 89
665), | hereby nominate this property for inciusion in the National Register and certify that it has been evaluated
according to tha criteria and procedures set forth by the National Park Semce

State Historic Preservation Officer signature e M{/q L /// /j L/ /{

tite Ex. Director & State Historic Preservatmn Officer date //f/g’:}
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